DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court  
Received 12/17/2024 10:16 PM  
Filed 12/17/2024 10:16 PM

---

No. 23-CM-998

---

GEORGE BELL,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

Criminal Division

---

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

---

\* THOMAS D. ENGLE

Burka and Engle, P.L.L.C.  
Suite 900 South  
601 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.  
Washington, D.C. 20004  
(202) 574-0400  
Counsel for Appellant

##

## ISSUES PRESENTED

### I.

WHETHER POLICE HAD PROBABLE CAUSE TO CONDUCT SEARCH OF APPELLANT'S PROPERTY AFTER HE ADMITTED POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA AND POLICE SAW A BAG COMMONLY USED TO STORE MARIJUANA BUT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUGGEST THAT THE POLICE HAD A BASIS TO BELIEVE THAT APPELLANT POSSESSED MORE THAN THE LEGAL AMOUNT OF MARIJUANA AND APPELLANT DID NOT CONSENT TO A SEARCH

### II.

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT'S ADMISSION THAT HE POSSESSED MARIJUANA WITH THE INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE IS SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT WHERE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF THE QUANTITY OF MARIJUANA AND NO EVIDENCE THAT THE INTENDED DISTRIBUTION WAS FOR REMUNERATION

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was arrested on July 4, 2023, and arraigned in Superior Court on a charge of possession with intent to distribute marijuana.

The defense filed a motion to suppress physical evidence on September 26, 2023, which the government opposed on October 9, 2023.

A hearing on Appellant's motion was held on November 27, 2023. The motion was denied. Tr., pp. 93-95.<sup>1</sup>

The stipulated trial was held after denial of the motion. The parties stipulated that appellant possessed the marijuana recovered by the police and intended to distribute it. Tr., p. 97. The court conducted a *Boyd* inquiry,<sup>2</sup> and appellant indicated that he did not want to testify. Tr., pp. 98-100. The trial court found appellant guilty of possession with intent to distribute marijuana and sentenced him to 60 days incarceration, execution of sentence suspended in favor of six months unsupervised probation. Tr., pp. 106-07. Appellant was ordered to pay \$50 to the victims of violent crime fund pursuant to D.C. Code § 4-516 (2001). Tr., pp. 106-07.

---

<sup>1</sup>“Tr.” refers to the single-volume, continuously-paginated transcript of proceedings on November 27, 2023.

<sup>2</sup>*Boyd v. United States*, 586 A.2d 670, 673 (D.C. 1991).

The trial court advised Appellant of his appeal rights. Tr., pp. 101-02, 106.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on November 28, 2023.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The government's sole factual witness was Officer Alarcon. He testified that he was a member of the Crime Suppression Unit. This unit does not respond to radio calls, but rather drives around the city attempting to discover crime. Tr., pp. 19, 40.

Officer Alarcon and his partner, Officer Clifford, drove into an alley that he described as a "high crime area," having responded "several times" to that alley in his 10-year career. Tr., pp. 18, 20, 42. However, on this occasion, the officers were not responding to a call, nor had they had any prior interaction with appellant. Tr., p. 41.

They came upon a group of young black men – of which appellant was a member – at a construction site where a townhouse was being renovated. There was a building permit in the window and the men were sitting on patio tiles next to a half-completed patio where the tiles were ready to be installed. Tr., pp. 44, 46.

The officers were suspicious of the men. Before even getting out of their patrol marked car, they ran the tag of a car parked at the construction site in their database. Tr., p. 47. The officers were in a marked patrol car; there was no testimony that their arrival caused any concern among the group of men. Tr., p. 48.

Despite the encounter being during business hours on a weekday, Officer Clifford did not ask the men whether they were construction workers; Officer Clifford simply ordered the men to leave the construction site. Tr., p. 49.

The men immediately complied, doing exactly what they were ordered to do. Tr., p. 49. The men went to the edge of the construction site approximately 20 feet away and remained – waiting and watching – while Officer Alarcon and Officer Clifford entered the construction site. Tr., pp. 30, 52.

One of the men who was ordered to leave had left behind a red bag. Tr., p. 49-51. Appellant left behind his cell phone and a large, blue, cloth Walmart bag measuring approximately two feet by two feet. Tr., pp. 24, 53. As the group waited 20 feet away, Officer Clifford searched the red bag and then permitted one of the men to return to retrieve his bag. Tr., pp. 49-51.

Officer Alarcon went up to the blue Walmart bag that was mostly closed but with an opening permitting the officer to look inside. Tr., p. 53. Officer Alarcon testified that he saw part of a Mylar bag, but could not determine its size since it was inside the mostly closed Walmart bag. In terms of his ability to observe inside the bag, Officer Alarcon conceded that the incident occurred “at 3 p.m. in the afternoon ... on a bright day” yet testified that he “used the flashlight to see better.” Tr., pp. 53-54.

Officer Alarcon testified that Mylar bags are often used to store marijuana. Tr., p. 23. He asked the group of men whose bag it was, indicating that if no one claimed it, he would take for destruction. Tr., p. 54. Appellant indicated the bag was his and contained marijuana. Tr., pp. 24, 54-55.

Appellant approached Officer Alarcon – who standing next to the bag – and retrieved the bag and his cell phone, which he had also left behind when he was initially ordered to leave. Appellant then began to walk away. As described by Officer Alarcon, after appellant retrieved the bag, he turned around and took a few steps away from the officer. Tr., p. 59.

Officer Alarcon told him to come back. Tr., pp, 57, 59. Officer Alarcon stated words to the effect of, “Hey! Let me see. Open it for me,” while simultaneously motioning with his arm and hand for appellant to return. Tr., p. 60.

Appellant complied and returned to Officer Alarcon. Officer Alarcon then instructed appellant to show him what was in the bag, stating, “Let me see what’s in there, man. Come on.” Tr. p. 60. Appellant again complied, opening the Walmart bag.

Once the Walmart bag was opened, Officer Alarcon saw the entire Mylar bag – rather than just the top of the bag – for the first time. He then arrested appellant.

As indicated below, the trial court found that Officer Alarcon did not know the size or weight of the Mylar bag before appellant opened the Walmart bag and exposed it. However, the trial court concluded as a matter of law that because appellant admitted he had marijuana in the bag and he complied, the officer had probable cause to search the bag to determine whether the amount exceeded the legal amount. In the alternative, the trial court ruled that appellant had voluntarily exposed the Mylar bag to Officer Alarcon.

## ARGUMENT

### I. TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT SUPPRESSING THE MARIJUANA BASED ON THE ILLEGAL SEARCH

#### A. Factual Introduction

Pursuant to Superior Court Criminal Rule 23(c), the defense requested that the trial court make specific findings of fact. In denying the defendant's suppression motion, the trial court stated:

Okay. So [defense counsel], I think the issue that we have here is I think, while the officer did not testify and tell the Court, like, this was a large Zip -- I mean, large Mylar bag, a small Mylar bag, a mini Mylar bag; I think the testimony that I do have is that he saw a blue cloth bag after they walked away. He saw a partial -- saw a partial Mylar packaging consistent with drug packaging for marijuana flower. He then determined to see -- he said the -- I'm

sorry. The blue bag was approximately two-feet-by-two-feet was the measurement he was able to give the Court. And this was prior to the back and forth with the group about the bag.

On cross-examination, [defense counsel] asked him was the bag mostly closed? He said, yes. And [defense counsel] asked him why he had to use a flashlight because it was 3 p.m. in the afternoon. And he said it wasn't dark in the bag. He just used the flashlight to see better. And then, immediately after seeing this Mylar bag in the bag, after using the flashlight, he asked the unidentified individual and Mr. Bell, if the bag belonged to anyone. And [defense counsel's] client immediately steps up and says, that's my weed. I'm not going to lie.

The Court finds that at that point, coupled with his training and experience of seeing this Mylar bag in the Walmart bag and [defense counsel's] client's immediate response that he had probable cause at that point. The Court also finds that once [defense counsel's] client came to retrieve the bag, the officer said to him, let me see, open them. How much you got here? It's your bag, right? And not giving any verbal response that the Court was able to hear on the body-worn camera footage, your client voluntarily pulls out this Mylar bag full of marijuana and hands it over to the officer.

So I'm going to deny the motion to suppress and find that the officer had probable cause at the time he asked [defense counsel's] client to see what was in the bag and [defense counsel's] client voluntarily gave him the item in the bag. But I find whether or not your client gave him the item on his own, the officer had probable cause to search the bag at that time.

Tr., pp. 93-95.

## B. Standard of Review

This Court recently reiterated its standard of review with respect to suppression motions:

When reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion to suppress, this court "must defer to the [trial] court's findings of evidentiary fact and view those facts and the reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to sustaining the ruling below." *Jackson v. United States*, 157 A.3d 1259, 1264 (D.C. 2017) (quoting *Joseph v. United States*, 926 A.2d 1156, 1160 (D.C. 2007)). However, "[w]hether officers had reasonable suspicion to justify a stop is a question of law that we review *de novo*." *Posey v. United States*, 201 A.3d 1198, 1201 (D.C. 2019) (citing *Miles v. United States*, 181 A.3d 633, 637 (D.C. 2018)). The government bears the burden of demonstrating that at the time [the defendant] was stopped MPD officers had reasonable and articulable suspicion to justify the stop. *United States v. Jones*, 1 F.4th 50, 52 (D.C. Cir. 2021).

*Mitchell v. United States*, No. 20-CF-0073 (D.C. May 9, 2024).

## C. Legal Discussion

### (1) Appellant's Compliance with a Police Order Constitutes a Seizure

Appellant was seized when he attempted to walk away but was ordered by Officer Alarcon to come back to the officer.

Q: Okay. And Mr. Bell stepped forward to get his bag, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And as you described him, he was very polite.

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And when he picked up his cell phone and the Walmart bag, he turned his back to you and started to walk away, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And how many steps did he get before you stopped him?

A: I'd have to watch it again and tell you that exactly.

....

Q: He picks it up, he turns, he starts to walk away, and then you tell him to come back, right?

A: Yes, sir.

....

Q: Okay. And you see that Mr. Bell turns away from you and picks up his items after you had had that conversation with him. Turns away from you and starts to walk away, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And then you tell him to come back, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

....

Q: Now, just to sort of pick up where we left off. We saw your partner's video where Mr. Bell had started to walk off a few steps. You ordered him back.

A: Yes, sir.

Tr., pp. 55-59.

After appellant's return pursuant to Officer Alarcon's command, Officer Alarcon testified:

Q: And he handed you the bag like you wanted, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And you then ordered Mr. Bell to open the bag, correct?

A: I asked him to show me what was in the bag. Yes.

Q: You said. "Let me see -- let me see what's in there, man. Come on."

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And Mr. Bell complied, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Tr., p. 60. In fact, Officer Alarcon testified that when appellant didn't comply with the first command to open the Walmart bag, he asked again:

Q: So Officer, the situation where you asked -- had to ask him twice to show you what was in the bag, correct?

A: Yes, sir.

Tr., p. 61.

Officer Alarcon explained that his purpose in instructing appellant to open the bag was so that he could see the size of the Mylar bag inside and determine how much marijuana it contained. Tr., p. 25. Only after the Mylar bag was exposed, did Officer Alarcon believe it exceeded the legal amount. Tr., p. 31.

Appellant was seized at the point Officer Alarcon twice ordered him to stop walking away and show him what was in the bag. A reasonable person would not have believed that they were free to ignore the officer's command. "An arrest requires either physical force . . . or, where that is absent, submission to the assertion of authority." *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 626, 113 L. Ed. 2d 690, 111 S. Ct. 1547 (1991).

(2) At the Time of the Seizure and Search, There Was Not Probable Cause for an Arrest

The trial court erred in finding there was probable cause to arrest, thus justifying a search of the bag. To the contrary, prior to the Walmart bag being opened, Officer Alarcon possessed insufficient facts to conclude that appellant had committed a crime.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup>The trial court understood that this was a full search requiring probable cause and not a *Terry* frisk for weapons requiring only reasonable articulable suspicion.

Appellant admitted to Officer Alarcon that he possessed marijuana in his bag; Officer Alarcon testified that marijuana is often stored in Mylar bags and that he could see the top of a Mylar bag in the Walmart bag..

Yet, prior to the search, Officer Alarcon had no basis to conclude that the Mylar bag contained more than two ounces – the demarcation point between legal and illegal possession of marijuana. Even after using his flashlight on a sunny day, Officer Alarcon could only see the top of the Mylar bag. Officer Alarcon testified:

Q: And since the Walmart bag was only open by your description a little bit, you couldn't see in terms of the second bag how big it was, how wide it was, how tall it was; is that correct?

....

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Okay. And you couldn't tell, for that matter, how much the second bag weighed?

A: No, sir. I cannot tell.

Tr., p. 53.

Bottom line: at the time of the search of appellant's Walmart bag, Officer Alarcon knew that it contained a Mylar bag often used to store marijuana and that appellant admitted that the bag contained marijuana. But he had no clue as to the size of the Mylar bag, he didn't know "how big it was, how wide it was, how tall it was" or "how much [it] weighed." *Id.*

To be sure, there will be situations where the officer's perception of the size of a bag informs a reasonable belief that the content weighs over two ounces, permitting arrest and a search. This is not that case here. Prior to the search of the Walmart bag, Officer Alarcon had no basis to conclude that appellant possessed more than the legal amount of marijuana.<sup>4</sup> It is black-letter law that a search cannot be justified by what it produces.

**(3) Conclusion that Appellant Voluntarily Showed Officer Alarcon the Mylar Bag Is Erroneous**

Even assuming that appellant was not seized when he was trying to walk away and returned in compliance with Officer Alarcon's direction, his compliance with Officer Alarcon's two separate commands to show him what was in the bag was not voluntary.

As Officer Alarcon described, appellant: "reached inside after I asked him to show me what was in the bag. He reached inside and showed me what was in the bag." Tr. p. 31.

It is still police action regardless of whether Officer Alarcon opened the Walmart bag himself or appellant did so at Officer Alarcon's command. While the trial court correctly found that appellant "pulls out this Mylar bag full of marijuana

---

<sup>4</sup>The District of Columbia has long decriminalized the possession of less than two ounces of marijuana. D.C. Code § 48-904.01(a)(1)(A).

and hands it over to the officer,” he did so only after he was directed to do so twice by Officer Alarcon.

Compliance with police direction can hardly be deemed a voluntary act. This is especially true given today’s current events where non-compliance with police orders can have deadly consequences.

II. GOVERNMENT FAILED TO PROVE THAT THE AMOUNT OF MARIJUANA RECOVERED FROM APPELLANT EXCEEDED TWO OUNCES AND THAT THE APPELLANT INTENDED TO SELL THE MARIJUANA

A. Factual Introduction

The defendant stipulated that marijuana was found in his possession and that he intended to distribute it.

B. Standard of Review

This Court has held that “it is well settled in this jurisdiction that a full range of challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence are automatically preserved at a bench trial by a defendant’s plea of not guilty ... [including] challenges to the requisite elements of the crime.” *Carrell v. United States*, 165 A.3d 314, 326 (D.C. 2017) (*en banc*).

With respect to the standard of review when determining whether the government has proven the elements of the crime, this Court has explained:

When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, this “court must deem the proof of guilt sufficient if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Rivas v. United States*, 783 A.2d 125, 134 (D.C. 2001) (*en banc*) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). This standard recognizes “the province of a trier of fact to weigh the evidence, determine the credibility of the witnesses and to draw reasonable inferences from the testimony.” *Dickerson v. United States*, 650 A.2d 680, 683 (D.C. 1994). “The evidence is insufficient, however, if in order to convict, the jury is required to cross the bounds of permissible inference and enter the forbidden territory of conjecture and speculation.” *Roy v. United States*, 652 A.2d 1098, 1103 (D.C. 1995) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). To prevail, appellants must establish “that the government presented no evidence upon which a reasonable mind could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Carter v. United States*, 957 A.2d 9, 14 (D.C. 2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

*Smith v. United States*, 68 A.3d 729, 738 (D.C. 2013).

### C. Legal Discussion

In the District of Columbia, it is legal to possess two ounces or less of marijuana and also legal to intend to distribute one ounce or less without remuneration. D.C. Code § 48-904.01(a)(1)(A); D.C. Code § 48-1201(a).

While appellant stipulated at trial that he possessed marijuana, no evidence was presented to the trial court regarding the weight of the marijuana possessed.

Further, while appellant stipulated at trial that he intended to distribute the marijuana he possessed, no evidence was presented to the trial court that he intended to sell the marijuana.

In the District of Columbia, it is permissible to distribute less than an ounce of marijuana to another person provided there is not payment. D.C. Code § 48-1201(a) provides: “Notwithstanding any other District law, the possession or transfer without remuneration of marijuana weighing one ounce or less shall constitute a civil violation.”<sup>5</sup>

In *Kornegay v. United States*, 236 A.3d 414 (D.C. 2020), this Court explained: “Accordingly, we understand § 48-904.01(a)(1) to permit an adult to possess two ounces or less of marijuana regardless of their intent, so long as that adult does not ‘sell, offer for sale, or make available for sale’ the marijuana.” *Id.* at 420.

Appellant admitted that he possessed marijuana with the intent to distribute it. However, distribution is not the same as sale. There was no evidence at trial that

---

<sup>5</sup>A civil violation does not permit an officer to search a citizen – only when an officer has probable cause for a criminal violation may s/he then search the citizen.

appellant intended to sell the marijuana, only that he intended to distribute marijuana to another person.

This Court has held: [T]ransferring a small amount of marijuana without remuneration likewise is treated differently from selling it—the former is lawful while the latter is not.” *Simms v. United States*, 244 A.3d 213 (D.C. 2021). In *Simms*, this Court stated:

Thus, while there remains a prohibition on transfers of marijuana (1) by sale, (2) in quantities greater than an ounce, or (3) to persons under 21 years of age, the statute expressly exempts from that prohibition, and unambiguously permits, unremunerated transfers of an ounce or less of marijuana to an adult.

*Id.* at 219.

To be sure, appellant was charged with possession with intent to distribute marijuana. However, the facts proven at trial did not show that he possessed an illegal amount of marijuana. The facts proven at trial did not show that he intended to distribute more than an ounce of marijuana. The facts proven at trial did not show that his intended distribution of marijuana was to be by sale.

In short, the government failed to establish illegal possession with intent to distribute marijuana, as articulated by the case law from this Court. His conviction must be reversed.

## CONCLUSION

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