BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 04/16/2025 03:57 PM
Filed 04/16/2025 03:57 PM

No. 23-CM-998

GEORGE BELL,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

EDWARD R. MARTIN, JR.
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB
NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN
NICKOLAS RECK

* MATTHEW L. BROCK
VA Bar #99271
Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
Washington, D.C. 20530
Matthew.Brock@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2023-CMD-4685

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

Bell's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence as to the amount of marijuana, raised for the first time on appeal, is invited error and should not be considered by this Court. Bell agreed to resolve the case through a stipulated trial, and when directly asked by the court if Bell was stipulating to a specific amount of marijuana, Bell's counsel expressly told the court that Bell only needed to stipulate to distribution for the court to make a finding of guilt. Bell's counsel accordingly invited any error and to permit his current challenge on appeal would be a manifest injustice and promote gamesmanship.

Even if this Court entertains Bell's current challenge, and assuming arguendo that the evidence did not sufficiently establish the

requisite amount of marijuana to prove completed PWID marijuana, there was sufficient evidence for this Court to direct the trial court to enter judgment on attempted PWID marijuana as a lesser included offense. Officer Alarcon testified that the amount of marijuana he discovered in Bell's possession was in excess of the legal limit, testimony that was supported by the sheer size of the bag and visible amount of marijuana therein. Furthermore, the presence of tools of distribution, including a digital scale and plastic Ziploc bags, considered together with the large sum of cash on Bell's person and Bell's stipulation that he intended to distribute the marijuana in his possession, were more than sufficient for the court to find that Bell intended to distribute the marijuana for remuneration.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying Bell's Motion to Suppress.

The trial court properly denied Bell's motion to suppress as Officer Alarcon possessed probable cause to search the blue bag after observing a mylar bag within, consistent with marijuana packaging, and Bell informed Officer Alarcon that the bag belonged to him and contained

marijuana. However, even if Officer Alarcon had lacked probable cause, the trial court did not clearly err in finding that Bell consented to the search when he voluntarily handed both the blue bag and the mylar bag to Officer Alarcon.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

In reviewing a trial court’s denial of a motion to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court “defer[s] to the trial court’s findings of fact ‘unless they are clearly erroneous,’” *Mayo v. United States*, 315 A.3d 606, 616 (D.C. 2024) (quoting *Hooks v. United States*, 208 A.3d 741, 745 (D.C. 2019)), and “view[s] those facts, and the reasonable inferences that stem from them, in the light most favorable to the government.” *Sharp v. United States*, 132 A.3d 161, 166 (D.C. 2016); *Mayo*, 315 A.3d at 617. Legal issues raised by the suppression motion are reviewed de novo. *Mayo*, 315 A.3d at 616.

B. Discussion

1. Officers’ Had Probable Cause to Search the Blue Bag.

Officer Alarcon possessed probable cause to search the blue bag at the time he asked Bell to open the bag and show him how much

marijuana was inside (see Gov't Ex. 1 at 15:15:53–54; 11/27/23 Tr. 25, 60). By that time, Officer Alarcon had observed the blue cloth bag, left behind by a group who apparently were not authorized to be present on a vacant construction site, in a high-crime area known for narcotics (*id.* at 20, 22–25). After looking into the already partially opened blue bag, the officer had observed the top of a mylar bag, which was consistent in his experience with the drug packaging used with marijuana (*id.* at 22–23). Additionally, after Officer Alarcon warned the group that the bag would be seized and destroyed, Bell had approached and expressly informed Officer Alarcon that it was his bag and that it did in fact contain marijuana (*id.* at 25; Gov't Ex. 1 at 15:15:34–44). Moreover, when Bell admitted to ownership of the bag and the presence of marijuana, he told Officer Alarcon, “I ain’t gonna let nobody else take the *blame* for my weed or nothin” — indicating that Bell knew the quantity of the drug therein was not lawful (Gov't Ex. 1 at 15:15:34–44 (emphasis added)). Finally, the mylar bag — as indicated in the body-worn camera footage — was not a small object, but sufficiently sizeable that it nearly filled the blue bag, and Officer Alarcon could tell it contained more than the legal amount of marijuana (11/27/23 Tr. 31).

“[A]ll that is required for probable cause’ is a ‘fair probability . . . that drugs or evidence of a drug crime . . . will be found.” *West v. United States*, 100 A.3d 1076, 1087 (D.C. 2014) (quoting *Florida v. Harris*, 568 U.S. 237, 246 n. 2 (2013)).

[Probable cause] merely requires that the facts available to the officer would warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief . . . that certain items may be . . . useful as evidence of a crime; it does not demand any showing that such a belief be correct or more likely true than false.

Id. (quoting *Texas v. Brown*, 460 U.S. 730, 742 (1983) (plurality opinion) (cleaned up)). When he asked Bell to show him the blue bag’s contents, Officer Alarcon knew (based on both his own observations and Bell’s spontaneous admission) the blue bag contained marijuana; he knew the bag belonged to Bell; and based upon Bell’s statement that “I ain’t gonna let nobody else take the blame for my weed or nothin’,” Officer Alarcon had reason to believe the marijuana contained within the blue bag was likely in excess of the legal limit. Therefore, as there was a “fair probability . . . that drugs or evidence of a drug crime . . . would be found” in the blue bag, officers had probable cause to search it. *Harris*, 568 U.S. at 246 n. 2; *West*, 100 A.3d at 1087; *Jenkins v. District of Columbia*, 223 A.3d 884, 890 (D.C. 2020) (explaining that probable cause requires only

a fair probability of a crime, which is less than a preponderance of the evidence).

Challenging this common-sense conclusion, Bell argues (Appellant’s Brief (Br.) 8–11) that he was “seized” when Officer Alarcon directed Bell to stop walking away with the blue bag and then asked to see what was inside. He further claims (Br. 11–13) that Officer Alarcon lacked probable cause to make an “arrest” at that point, because the officer did not know for certain that Bell had more than two ounces of the drug (i.e., the legal limit for public possession in the District). Bell presumably claims that this unlawful arrest tainted the officer’s subsequent recovery of the evidence inside the bag.

Bell’s argument fails, however, because Officer Alarcon did not effectuate an arrest of Bell before asking to see inside the bag. Rather, at most Officer Alarcon conducted a *Terry*⁶ stop by asking Bell to let him see inside the bag when Bell started to walk away — a “seizure” for which only reasonable suspicion, not probable cause to arrest, was required. *See, e.g., In re I.J.*, 906 A.2d 249, 257 (D.C. 2006) (“In *Terry*, the [Supreme

⁶ *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

C]ourt approved brief investigatory stops, based on a police officer's reasonable articulable suspicion that a person may be involved in criminal activity.”). The officer did not lay hands on Bell or handcuff him — even though such actions have been held to be lawful during *Terry* stops, *see In re I.J.*, 906 A.2d at 257–58 — but instead merely delayed Bell’s departure to ask him about the quantity of marijuana in the mylar bag. And as described *supra*, the officer’s observations and Bell’s own admissions gave the officer, at a minimum, “specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant[ed]” an “investigatory stop” of Bell. *See Nixon v. United States*, 870 A.2d 100, 103 (D.C. 2005) (quoting *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21).

2. Bell Consented to the Search of the Blue Bag By Voluntarily Handing the Mylar Bag to Officer Alarcon.

Even if this Court were to determine Officer Alarcon lacked probable cause to search the blue bag, the trial court’s denial of the suppression motion was still proper because Bell voluntarily gave both the blue bag and the mylar bag containing marijuana to Officer Alarcon. The voluntariness of consent is a factual question to be judged under the

totality of the circumstances and is reviewed for clear error. *Ward-Minor v. United States*, 316 A.3d 438, 444–45 (D.C. 2024) (citing *Henderson v. United States*, 276 A.3d 484, 489 (D.C. 2022)). While consent may be implied, it requires an affirmative act by the individual to be searched. *Id.* at 446 (quoting *Hawkins v. United States*, 248 A.3d 125, 129 (D.C. 2021)).

That affirmative act was present here. When Bell began to walk away after collecting the blue bag, Officer Alarcon stated, “[H]ey, lemme see, open that for me. How much you got here?” (Gov’t Ex. 1 at 15:15:53–54; 11/27/23 Tr. 25, 60). However, Bell did not verbally answer or open the blue bag for Officer Alarcon as requested. Rather, Bell went beyond the scope of any request and made the affirmative act of handing the blue bag to Officer Alarcon (Gov’t Ex. 1 at 15:15:54–58; 11/27/23 Tr. 31). Officer Alarcon then placed the bag on the ground and addressed Bell again stating, “[T]his is your bag, right? Let me see what’s in there man, come on” (Gov’t Ex. 1 at 15:15:58–16:01; 11/27/23 Tr. 31). Bell then performed yet another affirmative act and pulled out the mylar bag and handed it to Officer Alarcon (Gov’t Ex. 1 at 15:16:01–07; 11/27/23 Tr. 31). Given that Officer Alarcon never asked Bell to hand him either the blue

bag or the mylar bag, these were both voluntary, affirmative acts by Bell and therefore the trial court did not clearly err in its finding. *See, e.g., Brown v. United States*, 983 A.2d 1023, 1027 (D.C. 2009) (holding that although the appellant “did not give explicit, verbal permission” to search inside a pill bottle, she “impliedly consented to the search by handing the bottle to [the officer]”); *Henderson*, 276 A.3d at 491–92 (holding officers’ request to “pop the hood for us,” and appellant’s response of pulling the car hood latch and then walking away implicitly gave consent for officers to lift open the hood of the car and use a flashlight to observe what was in plain sight).

Bell nevertheless argues (Br. 13–14) that he did not give voluntary consent because his actions were in response to “command[s]” from Officer Alarcon. The trial court, however, did not find that Officer Alarcon commanded or ordered Bell to let him see inside the blue bag — instead, the court’s finding of voluntariness implied that the court was also finding that the officer requested to see inside (see 11/27/23 Tr. 94–95). *See United States v. Gamble*, 77 F. 4th 1041, 1045 (D.C. Cir. 2023) (“A district court’s assessment of whether an officer’s statements amounted to ‘commands’ rather than ‘questions’ would, if challenged, be reviewed

only for clear error.”); *see also United States v. Gross*, 784 F.3d 784, 788 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (holding that officer merely asking, “Can I see your waistband?” was not a show of authority). Because neither the officer’s specific words nor tone of voice compelled the conclusion that he was issuing commands rather than making a request (see Gov’t Ex. 1 at 15:15:58–16:01), Bell has not — and cannot — show clear error in the trial court’s finding that Bell gave voluntary consent. *See Anderson v. Bessemer City*, 470 U.S. 564, 574 (1985) (“Where there are two permissible views of the evidence, the factfinder’s choice between them cannot be clearly erroneous.”).

II. The Trial Court Did Not Err When It Found Bell Guilty of Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance.

Bell asserts the trial court erred in convicting him of PWID marijuana, because the government failed to prove that the amount of marijuana recovered from Bell exceeded the legal limit of two ounces, or that he intended to sell the marijuana (Br. 14). Bell’s arguments are unavailing. He raises these issues for the first time on appeal and, as he took contrary positions before the trial court, he is barred from taking a new position now on appeal and any error was invited by Bell. In the

alternative, even if this Court entertains his argument and concludes that evidence of the amount involved was inconclusive, there was sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction for attempted PWID marijuana.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

In reviewing a claim of insufficient evidence, this Court “must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, giving full play to the [fact finder’s] right to determine credibility, weigh the evidence, and draw justifiable inferences of fact.” *Ewing v. United States*, 36 A.3d 839, 844 (D.C. 2012) (citation omitted). *See also Bolden v. United States*, 835 A.2d 532, 534 (D.C. 2003) (defendants challenging sufficiency of evidence “face a difficult burden”). “The evidence must be sufficiently weighty to allow a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but it need not compel such a finding, nor must the government negate every possible inference of innocence.” *Johnson v. United States*, 40 A.3d 1, 14 (D.C. 2012) (citation omitted)). Instead, there merely must be “some probative evidence on each of the essential elements of the crime” from which a reasonable person could fairly find guilt beyond a reasonable

doubt. *Jennings v. United States*, 431 A.2d 552, 555 (D.C. 1981) (citation omitted). This Court will vacate a conviction only where there has been “no evidence” produced from which guilt can reasonably be inferred. *Joiner-Die v. United States*, 899 A.2d 762, 764 (D.C. 2006).

“In reviewing a bench trial, this [C]ourt will not reverse a conviction for insufficient evidence unless appellant establishes that the trial court’s factual findings were plainly wrong or without evidence to support them.” *Joiner-Die*, 899 A.2d at 764 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “Any factual finding anchored in credibility assessments derived from personal observations of the witnesses is beyond appellate reversal unless those factual findings are clearly erroneous.” *Stroman v. United States*, 878 A.2d 1241, 1244 (D.C. 2005).

To support a conviction for PWID of a controlled substance generally under D.C. Code § 48-904(a)(1), the government must prove “(1) the elements of possession, namely that the defendant knowingly exercised direct physical custody or control over an illegal amount of that substance, and (2) as an additional element, a defendant’s purpose to distribute the amount possessed.” *Kornegay v. United States*, 236 A.3d 414, 418 (D.C. 2020) (cleaned up). With respect to marijuana, however,

amendments enacted in 2015 “carve[] out an exception from the crime of possession and provide[] that ‘it shall be lawful, and shall not be an offense . . . for any person 21 years of age or older to . . . [p]ossess . . . marijuana weighing 2 ounces or less.” *See id.* (quoting D.C. Code § 48-904.01(a)(1)(A)). Those amendments further prohibited, however, “sell[ing], offer[ing] for sale, or mak[ing] available for sale any marijuana[,]” D.C. Code § 48-904.01(a)(1)(D), or “[t]ransfer[ring]” marijuana to another person marijuana in excess of one ounce, or for “remuneration”. *See* D.C. Code § 48-904.01(a)(1)(C).

“To prove attempted PWID, ‘[t]he government must establish conduct by the defendant that is reasonably adapted to the accomplishment of the crime of possession of the proscribed substance, and the requisite criminal intent.’” *Bruce v. United States*, 305 A.3d 381, 399 (D.C. 2023) (quoting *Seeney v. United States*, 563 A.2d 1081, 1083 (D.C. 1989)). To find the requisite criminal intent, “[t]here must be some action, some word, or some conduct that links the [defendant] to the narcotics and indicates that he had some stake in them, some power over them.” *Id.* (quoting *James v. United States*, 39 A.3d 1262, 1269 (D.C. 2012)) (alterations in original).

B. Discussion

1. Bell Is Barred Under the Invited Error Doctrine from Assuming a Contrary Position from the One He Took Before the Trial Court.

Bell did not raise his sufficiency challenge at the stipulated trial, instead raising it for the first time now on appeal. To the contrary, when asked directly by the trial court whether the parties had agreed to stipulate to a specific amount of marijuana in Bell's possession, Bell's counsel represented to the court, "I think it's just the intent to distribute is what's needed for — the finding" (11/27/23 Tr. 97). Having conceded this point before the trial court, Bell should be barred from now assuming a contrary position on appeal under the invited error doctrine.

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